I. INTRODUCTION 

Appellant commenced this action to request a declaratory 

judgment construing a contract that binds him and his co-owners of 

Landon Enterprises, LLC (the "LLC"). Respondents argued that Appellant 

lacks standing to make such a request. In doing so, Respondents 

mischaracterized Appellant's Amended Complaint (labeling Appellant's 

claims derivative, when they are not), disregarded the purpose and 

authority of Washington's Uniform Declaratory Judgment Act 

(the "UDJA"). RCW 7.24, et seq., and ignored material issues of fact. 

The trial court accepted Respondents' mistaken arguments and entered 

Respondents' proposed summary judgment order dismissing Appellant's 

case with prejudice. Appellant asks the Court to reverse and remand with 

directions that Appellant's case proceed on its merits. 

The contract Appellant asked the trial court to interpret is the 

Operating Agreement (the "Agreement") of Landon Enterprises, LLC 

(the "LLC"). Appellant owns 50 percent of the LLC's Governance Units 

and Financial Units-the company's shares-and he requested the trial 

court determination of his and his co-owners' rights, status, and legal 

relations under the contract. Respondent Carol Gaiser ("Carol") owns 27.5 

percent of the LLC's Units. 1 The Verah Landon Trust (the "Trust") owns 

the remaining 22.5 percent for the benefit of Carol. Respondent 

1 Because many of the actors in this case have the same surnames, this brief often uses 
first names for clarity, not out of disrespect. 
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Guardianship Services of Seattle ("GSS") is its new, court-appointed 

trustee. Respondent Katherine Gaiser ("Katherine") has no ownership 

interest but, in violation of the Agreement, exercises her mother's, Carol's, 

Member perquisites and has seized control of the LLC. 

Without producing a page of discovery or sitting for a single 

deposition, the Gaiser Respondents moved for summary judgment, which 

Respondent GSS belatedly joined. Respondents argued that Appellant is 

not a Member and therefore has no authority to bring a derivative action 

on behalf of the LLC. But Appellant had not brought a derivative action. 

Appellant invoked neither Civil Rule 23. I (derivative actions), nor 

RCW 25.15.370 (authorizing derivative actions on behalf of limited 

liability companies). Rather, he requested declaratory relief under the 

UDJA. 

The UDJA states that "[a] person ... whose rights, status or other 

legal relations are affected by a ... contract ... may have determined any 

question of construction or validity arising under the ... contract .... " 

RCW 7.24.020. Courts interpret the UDJA liberally, Grandmaster Sheng-

Len Lu v. King Cnty., 110 Wn. App. 92, 98, 38 P. 3d 1040, 1043 (2002), 

but Appellant has standing based on any interpretation of the UDJ A's 

plain language, liberal or restrictive. 

Regardless of his Member status within the company,2 Appellant is 

undisputedly a Unit Holder. He and the other owners are expressly bound 

2 Appellant believes outstanding discovery that Respondents evaded may show he is a 
Member, but that status is not necessary for the declaratory relief he seeks. 
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by the terms of Agreement. The UDJA thus authorizes Appellant to ask 

the Court to determine their respective rights, status, and legal relations 

under the Agreement. 

Respondents' summary judgment motion ignored the UDJA 

entirely. Respondents' one mention of Appellant's declaratory judgment 

claims was a single conclusory and illogical statement: 

Jay's cause of action for a declaratory judgment, the only 
cause of action asserted that could arguably provide a basis 
for the first three prayers for relief, must be dismissed and 
should be dismissed with prejudice since Carol will not 
consent to Jay's admission as a member of the LLC .... 

Respondents' sentence is illogical because Appellant's status (as a 

Member or a merely a Unit Holder) is not determinative of his standing 

under the UDJA. Respondents' argument is also a Catch 22. Appellant's 

only rights with respect to the LLC arise under the Agreement. He has no 

other interest in the LLC's Wallingford properties, which are worth over 

ten million dollars and which have been in his family for nearly a century. 

But that same Agreement (Respondents mistakenly argue) precludes him 

from seeking a judicial determination of his and his co-owners' rights, 

status, and legal relations under the Agreement. They wield the Agreement 

as both a sword (to give them rights) and a shield (to bar Appellant from 

asking the Court to determine the parties' respective rights). Respondents 

would leave non-Members no recourse to seek judicial relief concerning 

their ownership interests in limited liability companies. 
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In similar fashion, Respondents prepared a proposed order granting 

summary judgment, but the proposed order contained the same non-

sequitur: 

[Appellant]'s claims are derivative inasmuch as the 
[Appellant] is not a member of Landon Enterprises, 
LLC .... 

Respondents' proposed order makes no sense. Whether claims are 

derivative instead of direct, turns on the relief sought-is the claimant 

seeking judgment for the LLC (i.e., derivatively) or for him or herself 

(i.e., directly)-not on the status of the claimant as an owner, member, 

or manager. 

Unfortunately, the trial court accepted Respondents' faulty logic 

without amendment. Without more, and despite the fact that the 

Agreement directly affects the "rights, status [and] other legal relations" 

of all Unit Holders; despite genuine issues of material fact as to whether 

Appellant and Carol satisfy the Agreement's requirements for 

Membership; despite the Gaiser Respondents' evasion of Appellant's 

discovery requests, which predated Respondents' summary judgment 

motion; and despite Appellant's Civil Rule 56(t) prayer, the trial court 

dismissed as derivative all claims in Appellant's Amended Complaint with 

prejudice, including claims for an adjudication that Carol is incapacitated 

as to her estate and for injunctive relief. 

Even if Appellant's right to request judicial construction of the 

Agreement were to hinge on his or Carol's status as Members (it does 

not), the trial court should have reserved until after discovery questions of 
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Membership. Instead, the trial court made the findings by summary 

judgment. Each of the trial court's actions-ignoring the UDJA, 

concluding Appellant's claims are derivative, and deciding genuine issues 

of material fact-is error and necessitates reversal of the summary 

judgment. Appellant therefore respectfully asks that this Court reverse the 

trial court's order and remand the case with directions that the trial court 

(1) permit discovery, (2) determine the owners' respective rights, status, 

and legal relations under the Agreement, and (3) determine whether 

injunctive relief is warranted to enjoin operation of the LLC in violation of 

the Agreement. 

II. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR 

1. The trial court erred in concluding that Appellant lacked 

standing to bring a declaratory judgment action to determine the owners' 

rights, status, and legal relations under the Agreement. 

2. The trial court erred in granting summary judgment for 

Respondents despite the existence of genuine issues of material fact 

regarding Appellant's and Carol's Member status, and despite the Gaiser 

Respondents' refusals to respond to Appellant's pending discovery 

requests. 

3. The trial court erred in dismissing Appellant's requests for 

adjudication of Carol's incapacity as to her estate and for injunctive relief 

to enjoin LLC operations in violation of the Agreement. 
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III. ISSUES PRESENTED 

1. Whether a limited liability company's owner can bring a 

declaratory judgment action to interpret the company's operating 

agreement that expressly binds all owners, regardless of Member status? 

(Assignment of Error No. 1.) 

2. Whether a trial court can grant summary judgment where 

the moving parties refused to produce requested documents and participate 

in scheduled depositions, exacerbating existing genuine issues of material 

fact, and despite the non-moving party's Civil Rule 56(f) plea? 

(Assignment of Error No. 2) 

3. Whether a limited liability company's owner has standing 

to seek the adjudication of another owner's Membership status as 

contemplated in the company's operating agreement? (Assignment of 

Error No. 3) 

4. Whether a limited liability company's owner has standing 

to request injunctive relief, based on declaratory relief, to enjoin violations 

of the company's operating agreement? (Assignment of Error No. 3 .) 

IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

A. Legal Framework 

The UDJA grants courts the power to "declare rights, status and 

other legal relations whether or not further relief is or could be 

claimed .... The declaration may be either affirmative or negative in form 

and effect; and such declarations shall have the force and effect of a final 
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judgment or decree." RCW 7.24.010. A person "whose rights, status, or 

other legal relations are affected by a ... contract" may seek relief under 

the UDJA to "have determined any question of construction or validity 

arising under the ... contract ... and obtain a declaration of rights, status 

or other legal relations thereunder." RCW 7.24.020. Not only is the 

UDJA's language broad and pennissive, but the UDJA expressly requires 

liberal construction and administration of its provisions "to settle and to 

afford relief from uncertainty and insecurity with respect to rights, status 

and other legal relations." RCW 7.24.120; see also Grandmaster Sheng

Yen Lu v. King Cnty., 110 Wn. App. 92, 98, 38 P.3d 1040, 1043 (2002). 

It necessarily grants standing to any person "whose financial interests are 

affected by the outcome of a declaratory judgment action .... " Casey 

v. Chapman, 123 Wn. App. 670, 676, 98 P.3d 1246, 1249 (2004), as 

amended (Oct. 25, 2004). But financial interests are only one method of 

determining whether a claimant's rights, status, or other legal relations are 

affected by a contract. Moreover, a person may commence his or her 

declaratory judgment action "either before or after there has been a breach 

thereof." RCW 7.24.030. 

Respondents mistakenly looked to the Limited Liability 

Companies Act's (the "LLC Act"), RCW 25.15, et seq., provision 

authorizing derivative actions. CP 554-55. The LLC Act does indeed 

authorize LLC members to "bring an action in the superior courts in the 

right of a limited liability company to recover a judgment in its favor if 

managers or members with authority to do so have refused to bring the 
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action or if an effort to cause those managers or members to bring the 

action is not likely to succeed." RCW 25.15.370 (emphasis added). Here, 

however, Appellant was not seeking to recover a judgment in the LLC's 

favor. CP 11. 

The LLC Act's provision authorizing derivative actions neither 

conflicts with nor overrides the UDJA. The LLC Act permits derivative 

actions on behalf of a limited liability company to recover damages owed 

to the company, as opposed to the company's individual owners. 

It ensures that owners can enforce rights belonging to their company, 

where the company's management refuses to enforce them.3 The UDJA, 

meanwhile, permits any person affected by a contract to interpret any 

provision within the contract. RCW 7.24.020. The two statutes can work 

together-such as when a member derivatively brings a declaratory 

judgment action to interpret a contract between his or her company and a 

third party-but the statutes do not, by their terms, work against each 

other. 

B. Background and Procedural Facts 

1. Landon Enterprises, LLC 

The LLC was formed on November 30, 2006, replacing a family-

owned partnership. CP 223. The LLC owns property, consisting mostly of 

two apartment buildings and one comer of small retail establishments in 

3 For example, the LLC Act authorizes a non-managing member to sue in the name of the 
company for breach of a contract between the company and a third party, even though the 
member is not a party to the contract. 
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the heart of Wallingford, Seattle. CP 157-58. Appellant's great

grandfather, Jack Landon, a retired Seattle policeman, originally acquired 

and developed the properties in the late 1920s. Jd. Landon's wife (and 

Appellant's great-grandmother), Verah Landon, directed in her Will that 

the properties provide financial benefit to her son, grandchildren, great

grandchildren, and "possible other, more distant descendants." CP 1 74. 

The properties have done so for four generations. CP 158-59. That is, 

until Carol, Verah's granddaughter, slid into dementia, CP 677-78, and 

Carol's daughter, Katherine, with sad animus to all things Landon 

orchestrated the removal of the LLC's longtime CPA and manager and 

urged sale of the LLC's properties, CP 262-63; CP 265; CP 277-78; 

CP 281. 

The LLC' s management is governed by the Agreement, the 

provisions of which supersede most of the default rules provided in the 

LLC Act. CP 192. The Agreement defines the rights and responsibilities 

inhering in LLC ownership. CP 193-210. 

2. Ownership Rights 

"Ownership rights in the [LLC] are reflected in Governance Units 

and Financial Units, ... " CP 193. Governance Units and Financial Units 

are identical in all respects except that Financial Units are entitled to vote 

only in limited circumstances. Id Any person owning at least one 

Governance Unit or one Financial Unit is a Unit Holder. Id The 

Agreement expressly "binds all Unit Holders ... claiming a right or 

- 9 -



benefit under or covered by [the] Agreement." CP 217. 

3. Members, Transferees, and Managers 

Unit Holders fall into one of two categories: Members and 

Transferees. CP 188; CP 191. Both can own Governance and/or Financial 

Units, id., but only Members have rights to manage the LLC (with 

restrictions discussed below), e.g., CP 202-10. Transferees have more 

limited rights. E.g., CP 211-15. The original Members structured the LLC 

this way largely for tax purposes: the Member-Transferee distinction 

increases the Unit Holders' lawful claim to lack of control and 

marketability discounts when Governance and Financial Units are 

transferred. 

Transferees do not become Members automatically. They must be 

admitted by other Members. If existing Members hold at least 50 percent 

of the outstanding Units, then unanimous consent among Members is 

required to admit a Transferee as a Member. CP 212-13. Such consent 

must be in writing. CP 212. The Agreement does not specify the form of 

the written consent or require that the writing he signed. Id. 

Similarly, an individual can involuntarily lose Member status. 

CP 187. The Agreement defines this as an event of "Dissociation." Id. One 

way a Member dissociates is by "the entry of an order by a court of 

competent jurisdiction adjudicating such Member incapacitated, as used 

and defined under RCW 11.88, as to his or her estate." Id. 

Although the LLC is Member-managed, the Members can appoint 
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a Manager to assume management duties. CP 202. When they do, the 

Manager is responsible for hiring and firing LLC employees. CP 203. 

And, Members cannot thereafter fire the Manager unless they hold more 

than 50 percent of the Governance Units then outstanding. CP 207; 

CP 209. In forming the LLC, the original Members unanimously selected 

Jeffrey Wilson ("Wilson"), the Landon family'~ longstanding accountant 

and trustee of the Trust, to serve as the Manager. CP 188. In 2008, after 

the death of Appellant's mother (Carol's sister), Wilson, in tum, hired 

Appellant as the LLC's property manager with the approval of Carol and 

her husband, Graham Gaiser ("Graham"). CP 270. 

4. Limitations on Transfers of Member Rights 

The Agreement permits only one instance in which a Member may 

transfer Member rights-voting by proxy. And the Agreement strictly 

limits the manner in which a Member may do so. The Member must 

(a) file a revocable proxy with the Manager, (b) at or before the meeting in 

which the proxy is to be used, ( c) with information sufficient for the 

Manager to determine that the Member authorized that proxy. CP 209. 

The Agreement does not allow Members to use a power of 

attorney or "any transfer" to preserve a Unit Holder's Member status in 

the face of incapacitation. The Agreement bars transfers, actual or 

constructive, incident to Dissociation: 

"Transfer" includes an assignment, conveyance ... and for 
certainty shall also include any transfer, actual or 
constructive, resulting from or incident to an event of 
Dissociation. 
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CP 191 (emphasis added). 

The Agreement also bars other attempts to transfer Units and the 

rights that go with them. The Agreement renders such attempts void: 

Without the prior written consent of a Majority of the 
Members, no Unit Holder may directly or indirectly 
Transfer any Governance or Financial Units, except as 
provided in Section 12.02 [not applicable here]. Any other 
Transfer of Governance or Financial Units shall be void. 

CP 211 (emphasis added). 

The Agreement's express and limited grant of authority for transfer 

of that single Member right (voting by a meeting-specific, revocable, 

authorized proxy) and the Agreement's broad prohibitions of other 

transfers, establishes that the Agreement does not authorize Members to 

transfer other Member rights, such as calling meetings, specifying 

purposes of meetings, and acting by consent without meetings. A non

Member cannot wield a Member's power of attorney to exercise rights 

reserved for Members, any more than a non-member of a gym could use a 

member's power of attorney to use the gym's exercise equipment. Such 

use of a power of attorney to override the Agreement's restrictions and 

prohibitions would also jeopardize the lawful tax reduction benefits for 

which the restrictions and prohibitions were designed. 

C. Katherine's Attempts to Usurp Owner Rights 

In August 2012, Katherine campaigned to bring down the LLC 

against the Unit Holders' best interests. CP 257. She complained that 

Appellant was using his position as property manager to make decisions 
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about property (in which she had no ownership interest). Id. Katherine 

also harassed LLC staff, demanding that they listen to her and not the 

LLC 's property manager. CP 267-68. 

Wilson expressed his support of Appellant's work in the face of 

Katherine's complaints: 

Jay has been appointed manager of the Landon Enterprises, 
he has been in this position for several years and has done 
a great job. The properties are in good condition, rents and 
profits are solid. The financial situation is also very solid. I 
support Jay continuing as the manager of Landon 
Enterprises. 

CP 270 (emphasis added). 

Katherine's father, Graham, agreed with Wilson's endorsement: 

Thank you for your sage advice -- with which I heartily 
agree! It is what I have wanted to say, but feared it would 
be perceived as biased. 

CP 273 (emphasis added). 

The same sad drama replayed in September 2012. In an email to 

Wilson, Katherine demanded: "Have you suggested to Jay that he step 

down as Manager of Landon Enterprises?" CP 262. During the month 

prior, she had pressed Appellant and Wilson until she obtained a rent-free 

apartment unit from the LLC. She then refused to sign a lease unless 

Appellant relinquished his managerial position. Id. Katherine suggested 

she had a right to select the new manager, despite having no interest 

whatsoever in the LLC or its properties. Id. 

Again, Wilson refused to give way to Katherine's demands: 

I am sorry you are unhappy with the management of 
Landon Enterprises. As trustee for the Verah Landon Trust, 
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my position is Jay has done a great job as manager. I 
strongly support him remaining in the position as the 
manager of Landon Enterprises. I am unwilling to fire 
him or hire another company to do that job. Landon 
Enterprises is doing very well financially and Jay has 
played a major role in the company's.financial success. 

CP 278 (emphasis added). Wilson also urged Katherine to abide by 

company procedures: 

Landon Enterprises is a business, it has guidelines and 
procedures it operates under like any business. All tenants 
of Landon Enterprises need to follow those procedures and 
guidelines. That includes signing a lease, having reasonable 
access granted to your apartment and the other conditions 
any other tenant would agree to. The only difference in 
your case is you are not paying rent, your rent is being 
subsidized by your parents. 

Id. For his support of Appellant, Wilson earned Katherine's enmity. 

Not long thereafter, she began seeking his removal, too. 

Katherine was undeterred by Wilson's and her parents' support of 

Appellant. First, she emailed Appellant, and demanded his resignation: 

"Jay you need to resign or I will rip it apart. My daddy wont [sic] stop me 

from feeling safe in my own fucking home." CP 281 (emphasis added).

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