No. 73448-2-I

COURT OF APPEALS FOR THE STATE OF WASHINGTON, DIVISION I

JAY FRIET, an individual,

Appellant/Plaintiff,

v.

KATHERINE GAISER, an individual; GUARDIANSHIP SERVICES OF SEATTLE, a non-profit organization; LANDON ENTERPRISES, LLC, a limited liability company; and CAROL GAISER, an individual for the purpose of petitioning to appoint a guardian,

Respondents/Defendants.

BRIEF OF RESPONDENTS CAROL GAISER, KATHERINE GAISER, AND GUARDIANSHIP SERVICES OF SEATTLE

David C. Tingstad, WSBA # 26152 Joan L. Roth, WSBA # 8979 BERESFORD BOOTH PLLC 145 3rd Avenue South Edmonds, WA 98020 (425) 776-4100 Attorneys for Respondents Carol and Katherine Gaiser

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

Because Mr. Friet is not an LLC member, he has no rights of governance, and he cannot impede LLC members who do have those rights. Here, it is Mr. Friet - not Katherine or Carol - who is interfering with the affairs of the LLC. The trial court correctly dismissed his claim for declaratory relief for lack of standing.

3. <u>As a Non-Member, Mr. Friet Cannot Bring Claims</u> Concerning the Governance of an LLC.

When someone other than the LLC brings claims concerning governance of an LLC, mismanagement of the LLC, breaches of fiduciary duties to the LLC, or failure to follow LLC policies by LLC managers and members, such claims are all necessarily derivative claims brought *on behalf of the LLC*. It is inherently the right of the LLC, as an entity, to have its policies followed and to be properly managed. **However, only**

members can bring derivative suits on behalf of an LLC. RCW 25.15.370; RCW 25.15.375; see Nw. Wholesale, Inc. v. Pac Organic Fruit, LLC, 183 Wn. App. 459, 477, 334 P.3d 63 (2014), aff'd, 184 Wn.2d 176, 357 P.3d 650 (2015) ("To bring a derivative claim on behalf of a limited liability company, the plaintiff must be a member at the time of bringing the action.")

Courts have repeatedly recognized that these types of claims are derivative. For example, in *Nw. Wholesale*, , claims brought by a minority member of an LLC alleging mismanagement by other members were derivative:

Shirley and Harold Ostenson also bring a derivative action, on behalf of Pac Organic against Greg Holzman and his companies, GHI, and Total Organic Fruit, LLC (Total Organic). The derivative action alleges Holzman and his companies mismanaged Pac Organic.

Nw Wholesale, 183 Wn. App. at 464. The court describes the derivative claim as one "for mismanagement of the limited liability company." *Id.* at 477.

Similarly, in *Sound Infiniti, Inc. v. Snyder*, 145 Wn. App. 333, 186 P.3d 1107 (2008), a minority shareholder in closely-held corporations sued the majority shareholders "in both his individual capacity and derivatively as a shareholder of the corporations" alleging that the majority shareholders "engaged in oppression' of him as a minority

shareholder, converted corporate assets, otherwise breached their fiduciary duties." 145 Wn. App. at 339-40. Among other things, the minority shareholder claimed as damages his loss of perquisites. This Court ruled that these claims were derivative, and that loss of perquisites incident to shareholder status did <u>not</u> give rise to independent personal claims:

We also affirm the trial court's ruling that most of Pisheyar's other stated claims were derivative of his shareholder status and that Pisheyar thus lost standing to pursue those claims when he ceased to be shareholder. Because the trial court erred, however, by ruling that Pisheyar could maintain independent, personal claims arising out of the loss of in kind "perquisites" to which he asserted an entitlement as an incident of his status as a shareholder, we reverse that ruling.

145 Wn. App. at 337 (emphasis added).

In *Donlin*, one of two shareholders of a corporation brought certain claims that this Court characterized as derivative:

"[Defendant shareholder] has breached his fiduciary duties to [the corporation] and its Shareholders, including Plaintiff Donlin, by engaging in self-dealing, by usurping a corporate opportunity, by exposing [the corporation] to liability, and by acting oppressively and in bad faith in the ways alleged in the amended complaint."

Donlin v. Murphy, 174 Wn. App. 288, 292, n.4, 300 P.3d 424 (2013).

Mr. Friet also cites *In re F5 Networks, Inc.*, 166 Wn.2d 229, 207 P.3d 433 (2009), a shareholder derivative suit brought against "current and former officers and directors of F5." The minority shareholder asserted

securities violations and also "violations of the corporation's own policies." 166 Wn.2d at 233-34. While the issue in that case concerned whether a demand for corporate action must precede the filing of a derivative action, the court did not question that the claims made were derivative in nature.

Only (1) an LLC, or (2) a member bringing a derivative action on behalf of the LLC, has standing to seek declaratory relief relating to the LLC's rights. This was the Alabama Supreme Court's holding in *Carey v. Howard*, 950 So.2d 1131 (Ala. 2006).⁴ In *Carey*, members of an LLC brought a declaratory judgment action challenging the validity of an option contract entered into by the LLC. The court ruled that because the members had no interest in the property of the LLC, they lacked standing to bring a declaratory judgment action. Instead, the LLC itself could bring a declaratory judgment action to interpret the contract, or the members could pursue a *derivative* action on behalf of the LLC:

Although we recognize that the provisions of the Declaratory Judgment Act are to be "liberally construed and administered," we cannot construe them so broadly as to find that the Carey litigants have standing to sue for declaratory relief **as individuals** for an alleged injury to property owned by the LLC, of which they are members. To do so would effectively eviscerate § 10–12–23(a) and

⁴ A copy of this out-of-state case was properly submitted to the trial court below. CP 837.

(b) and § 10–12–18 of the Alabama Limited Liability Company Act.

Carey, 950 So.2d at 1136 (emphasis added and citation omitted).⁵

In the corporate context, a shareholder may only bring a direct claim "where the shareholder suffered an injury separate and distinct from that suffered by other shareholders." Sabey v. Howard Johnson & Co.,

maintain an action in his own right against a third party (although the corporation may likewise have a cause of action for the same wrong) when the injury to the individual resulted from violation of some special duty owed to the stockholder but only when that special duty had its origin in circumstances independent of the stockholder's status as a stockholder.

101 Wn. App. 575, 584-85, 5 P.3d 730 (2000). A shareholder may

Sabey, 101 Wn. App. at 585 (emphasis added) (quoting *Hunter v. Knight*, *Vale & Gregory*, 18 Wn. App. 640, 646, 571 P.2d 212 (1977)). Similarly, Washington's limited partnership statute provides:

[A] partner commencing a direct action under this section is required to plead and prove actual or threatened injury that is not solely the result of an injury suffered or threatened to be suffered by the limited partnership.

RCW 25.10.701(2) (emphasis added).

In *Woods View II, LLC v. Kitsap Cnty.*, 188 Wn. App. 1, 24, 352 P.3d 807 (2015), Division II recently applied these tests to claims by an LLC member:

⁵ Like Washington, Alabama has adopted the Uniform Declaratory Judgment Act. See, e.g., Ex parte Rush, 419 So.2d 1388, 1389 (Ala. 1982).

Shareholders are usually not allowed to bring an individual direct cause of action for an injury inflicted upon the corporation or its property by a third party.... The exception to this rule occurs where the shareholder's claim arises from "something other than his shareholder Status."

Woods View II, 188 Wn. App. at 22-23 (quoting Sound Infiniti, Inc., 145 Wn. App. at 352 (emphasis omitted), aff'd, 169 Wn.2d 199, 237 P.3d 241 (2010)). The Woods View court further noted that the alleged "direct" injury had to be distinct from an injury suffered by similarly situated members, something that the claimant, as the LLC's sole member, could not show:

The fact that Piper was the sole shareholder of WVII does not change our analysis: a sole shareholder, by necessity, cannot show "an injury distinct from that to other shareholders."

Woods View II, LLC, 188 Wn. App. at 24 (emphasis added) (quoting Sparling v. Hoffman Const. Co., Inc., 864 F.2d 635, 641 (9th Cir. 1988)).

This Court recently explained the purpose of derivative suits:

Ordinarily, a shareholder cannot sue for wrongs done to a corporation, because the corporation is viewed as a separate entity, and the shareholder's interest is too remote to meet the standing requirements. However, because of the possibility of abuse by the officers and directors of a corporation, a narrow exception has been created for shareholders to bring derivative suits on behalf of the corporation.

Donlin, 174 Wn. App. at 297 (quoting Gustafson v. Gustafson, 47 Wn. App. 272, 276, 734 P.2d 949 (1987)).

Shareholders have long had the power to assert a corporation's rights on its behalf when its officers and directors have failed to do so *or have done so improperly*.

Id. (emphasis added) (quoting F5 Networks Inc., 166 Wn.2d at 236).

Mr. Friet urges this Court to follow Delaware law. In the Delaware case of *Zimmerman v. Crothall*, 62 A.3d 676 (Del. Ch. 2013), a minority member of an LLC brought a derivative suit against other members alleging, among other things, that they failed to follow the procedures required by the LLC Agreement.

Zimmerman also claims that Defendants breached the Company's Operating Agreement when they engaged in four financing transactions without obtaining the consent of the Common members.

62 A.3d at 690. The Delaware court determined the claim was derivative: "This is an appropriate derivative action because Plaintiff seeks relief for injuries done to the LLC." 62 A.3d at 689, n.83.

In his appellate brief, Mr. Friet makes new and additional claims for declaratory relief, like whether the members of the LLC complied with LLC policies concerning what constitutes a "Quorum" and a "Majority." Brief of Appellant at 25-26. Mr. Friet did not raise those claims in his Amended Complaint or his response to summary judgment below.⁶ He

⁶ In his response to summary judgment, Mr. Friet plainly stated: "By this action, Jay asks this Court to make a determination that the LLC Operating Agreement (the "Agreement") does not authorize non-owners to use powers of attorney to exercise Member rights." CP 570.

cannot raise them for the first time on appeal. See RAP 2.5(a); Roberson v. Perez, 156 Wn.2d 33, 39, 123 P.3d 844 (2005) ("In general, issues not raised in the trial court may not be raised on appeal.")

Even if considered, these new claims still concern the rights of the LLC as an entity to have its internal policies followed. Mr. Friet's alleged "interest in his governance Units being counted toward the Quorum and Majority requirements" and "interest in ensuring the other Unit Holders do not exceed the scope of their authority," Brief of Appellant at 32, are interests derived from his unit holder status. These interests are shared with all unit holders and derive from the LLC entity's interest in having its policies, as spelled out in the Agreement, adhered to. It does not matter whether Mr. Friet owns 50% of the units or that he is the only other unit holder besides Respondents. As this Court noted in Sabey, "[e]ven a shareholder who owns all or most of the stock, but who suffers damages only indirectly as a shareholder, cannot sue as an individual." 101 Wn. App. at 584; see, also, Woods View II, LLC, 188 Wn. App. at 24 ("The fact that Piper was the sole shareholder of WVII does not change our analysis..."). As a non-member, Mr. Friet has no legal interest in LLC governance, so his request that the court interpret the LLC members' interests is necessarily derivative.

Mr. Friet's reliance on *Casey v Chapman*, 123 Wn. App. 670, 98 P.3d 1246 (2004) is misplaced. There, the court held that a creditor selling a limited partnership interest at a UCC foreclosure sale had standing to seek declaratory relief concerning the effect and validity of that sale. Nothing in that case suggests that an assignee of a financial interest in a limited liability company has standing to seek declaratory relief on derivative claims that he is barred from bringing under RCW 25.15.375.

Mr. Friet presents no authority for his argument that claims concerning governance of an LLC are "direct, not derivative." No authority was presented to the trial court, and the cases he cites do not so hold.

Guenther v. Fariss, 66 Wn. App, 691, 833 P.2d 417 (1992), relied upon extensively by Mr. Friet, did not involve claims that members of an LLC failed to comply with company policies. Rather, it involved a dispute between partners in a limited partnership about the effect of an agreement between them concerning the percentage of their ownership interests. The court held that this dispute between the partners did not involve the interests of the partnership as an entity. This case does not even discuss the entity's interest in its own governance, much less hold that claims concerning governance are individual and not derivative.

Mr. Friet also cites *Polak v. Kobayashi*, 2008 WL 4905519 (D. Del. 2008), an unreported opinion from the U.S. District Court for the District of Delaware. Brief of Appellant at 32, 37. *Polak* concerned whether a partnership entity's citizenship (or residency) should be considered in determining whether the federal court could assert diversity jurisdiction. The court held that claims for dissolution of the partnership and for breach of contractual promises made by one partner to the other were direct and not derivative and therefore, the entity's citizenship did not defeat diversity for those claims. The court held there was no diversity jurisdiction over "plaintiff's claims for breach of fiduciary duty, declaratory judgment, and unjust enrichment," however, because those claims were derivative. *Id.* at *8.

In *Dragt v. Dragt/DeTray LLC*, 139 Wn. App. 560, 161 P.3d 473 (2007), the LLC agreement purported to grant the LLC an option to purchase land owned by non-managing members. The members entered a contract to sell the land to a third party. The members then brought a declaratory judgment action seeking to have the option declared unenforceable and thereby clear title. The members named the LLC as a party, along with its managing member, because the option, if valid, belonged to the LLC itself. The managing member brought counterclaims

on behalf of both himself and the LLC. A derivative suit was not needed, as the LLC through its manager asserted its own rights.

Ultimately, these cases do not hold that the claims of an unadmitted assignee of an LLC economic interest concerning the LLC's governance are considered direct. Rather, those claims are derivative.

Here, Mr. Friet requested that the court enter "a declaratory judgment that Katherine cannot use Carol's power of attorney for financial matters to conduct LLC affairs." CP 389. That concerns the right of the LLC to be managed according to its own policies, and not any individual interest of Mr. Friet as a non-member unit-holder in the LLC. By seeking to protect the LLC from Katherine (who participates on behalf of Carol), Mr. Friet's claim for declaratory relief is in the nature of a derivative suit. See id. Because he is not a member, he cannot bring such claims. See RCW 25.15.370; RCW 25.15.375; Nw. Wholesale, Inc., 183 Wn. App. at 477.

This Court should affirm the trial court's order granting summary judgment on Mr. Friet's claim for declaratory relief.

C. Mr. Friet Is Not an LLC Member and Lacks Standing to Seek an Injunction over the Members' Governance Rights.

This Court should also affirm the trial court's dismissal of his request for injunctive relief. He cites no case law holding that the doctrine

of standing does not apply to claims for injunctive relief, or that a party can seek an injunction to enforce claims he has no standing to bring.

The cases cited by Mr. Friet concerning parties to an agreement are not relevant, because he is not a party to the LLC agreement. *See* Brief of Appellant at 37-38. In *Wimberly v. Carvello*, 136 Wn. App. 327, 149 P.3d 402 (2006), the court held that members of a homeowner's association could seek relief against other members based on express provisions of the association by-laws. "This Association's bylaws and covenants provide that individuals may invoke the jurisdiction of the court to resolve covenant disputes." 136 Wn. App. at 335. Mr. Friet cites no provision of the LLC Agreement that gives him the right to bring his current claims. To the contrary, the LLC Agreement states that as a Transferee, Mr. Friet does not have membership rights. CP 611.

In *Day v. Inland Empire Optical, Inc.*, 76 Wn.2d 407, 456 P.2d 1011 (1969), the court held that "one lawfully engaged in the practice of a licensed profession has a legal and equitable right to insist that others practicing ... comply with the laws governing the practice." 76 Wn.2d at 417. Mr. Friet is not engaged in a licensed profession; this case does not apply.

Nothing in these cases holds that a non-member transferee of an LLC interest can bring derivative claims contrary to the express provisions

of the LLC Act. The trial court properly dismissed Mr. Friet's request for injunctive relief for lack of standing.

D. The Trial Court Properly Dismissed Mr. Friet's Cause of Action for "Guardianship."

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